
CHATTANOOGA AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
& THE CHATTANOOGA PARKING AUTHORITY 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
September 18, 2025, 10:00 AM ET 

1. Call to Order

2. Quorum Call

3. Moment of Silence & Pledge of Allegiance

4. Public Comment

5. Recognitions: Scott Wilson

6. Presentation: Transit Service & Performance Standards: Kimley Horn
A. Transit Service & Performance Standards Memo: Charles D. Frazier (page 2)

7. Staff Reports
A. Statistical Report: Daniel Dufour (page 33)

8. Consent Agenda
A. Adoption of Minutes (page 37)

9. Action Items:
A. Procurement Report: Annie Powell (page 47)

B. Monthly Financial Report – August 2025: Sander Abernathy (page 50)

10. New Business

A. Incline Anniversary: Brandon Meredith & Matthew Higgins

11. Old Business

12. Adjournment

13. Executive Session

1



    Agenda Item 6A 
September 18, 2025 

TO: CARTA Board of Directors 

FROM: Charles D. Frazier 
Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT:       Transit Service & Performance Standards 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

This item is presented for information and discussion only. No Board action is requested at this time. A 
resolution for adoption will be brought forward in October 2025. 

ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC GOALS 

This item aligns with CARTA’s strategic imperatives of Service Quality, Customer Service, Fiscal 
Accountability, Community Engagement, and Compliance. 

SUMMARY OF NEED 

Approval of this future resolution will allow CARTA to move toward a smarter, more transparent, and 
more strategic approach for planning and evaluating our transit system. The Transit Service & 
Performance Standards framework establishes a consistent, fact-based method for answering three 
fundamental questions: 

1. Where, when, and how should CARTA provide service?

• Guided by Service Design Guidelines (e.g., route frequency, directness, and stop
spacing).

2. How do we know if a route is performing well or poorly?

• Measured by Service Standards (Key Performance Indicators) such as passengers per
hour, subsidy per passenger, on-time performance, and customer complaints.

3. What should we do when service underperforms?

• Addressed through the Action Framework, which uses a Green / Yellow / Red system
with clear follow-up actions.

BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 

On December 19, 2024, the CARTA board of directors approved an on-call contract with Kimley Horn to 
provide transit planning and operational support. Subsequently, on June 12, 2025, the board adopted the 
FY2026 budget with funding appropriations to support ongoing transit planning/analysis needs. Kimely 
Horn has been selected as an extension of staff to assist CARTA with establishing the Transit Service & 
Performance Standards framework. Associated timelines are below. 

Resolution Timeline 

2



• July /August 2025: Staff completed the Transit Service & Performance Standards framework and
prepared the introductory technical presentation.

• September 2025: Introductory presentation of the framework to the Board for education and
feedback (this agenda item).

• October 2025: Staff will return with a formal resolution for adoption, incorporating Board
feedback.

Engagement Timeline 

• Stakeholder Engagement: CARTA will engage with riders through the Rider Advisory Committee
and with operators through Bus Operator Listening Groups.

• No Immediate Changes: No changes to the transit network will occur until 2027 (January or May)
at the earliest.

Next Steps 
Staff requests Board feedback and questions at the September meeting to ensure clarity and alignment 
before a resolution is brought forward in October. 

PROCUREMENT OVERVIEW 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 

DBE PARTICIPATION 
N/A 

3



Transit Service 
Standards
CARTA Board of Directors
September 18, 2025

4



Your Consultant Team 

Dan 
Nelson 

Mary Kate 
Morookian 

Hannah 
Pack

Kevin 
Tilbury

5



Background and Purpose

6



How did we get here?

Plan Chattanooga established a 
framework for CARTA’s long-term 
transit vision:
‒ Multimodal connections
‒ Transportation hubs
‒ High demand corridors
‒ Frequent network
‒ New routes and services

7



How did we get here? 

Moving from today’s network to 
future vision requires incremental, 
but intentional, steps forward.

8



Transit Improvement Program

• Completed
‒ Long Term Transit Vision Plan
‒ Title VI Fare Analysis
‒ Economic Impact Study

• In progress
‒ Short Term Transit Improvement Plan
‒ Service Standards and Design Guidelines
‒ Fare Study
‒ Downtown Transit Center Site Evaluation
‒ Incline Railway Site Planning

• Upcoming
‒ Schedule Optimization Study
‒ Bus Stop Design Guidelines

This initiative is part 
of a broader 
program of projects 
to improve CARTA. 

9



Why have service standards?

10



Why develop service standards?

Transparency & Accountability

Identify Service Needs and Gaps 

Track Performance Trends

Improve Operational Efficiency

Equity & Access

Establish Service Narrative

Meet Federal Standards

11



9

Holds CARTA accountable

Keeps services running efficiently

Maintains service quality

Why Does this Matter?

Establishes a framework that…

12



10

• Agencies with service standards
are mature systems
‒ Established processes and goals
‒ Regular monitoring and

reporting
‒ Predictable service change

periods
‒ Service adjustments and

improvements that are 
justifiable and work toward the 
longer-term vision for the 
system

What are industry best practices?

13



What does this mean for 
CARTA?

14



Evaluation Framework

Service Standards
How is the service 

doing?

Change 
Management 
Procedures

What changes 
should be made?

Service Design 
Guidelines

How do we design 
the service?

CARTA’s service 
evaluation framework 
includes three key 
elements.

15



13

Service Design Guidelines
Principles for service operation

• Service Access 
‒ Geographic coverage, distribution 

of stop amenities
• Route Design
‒ Directness, connectivity, stop 

spacing
• Service Schedule
‒ Frequency, span, schedule 

coordination, schedule efficiency

Service Standards
Measure system performance and 
identify specific issues

• Efficiency & Effectiveness
‒ Daily riders, riders per hour/mile/trip
‒ Subsidy per passenger, farebox 

recovery

• Service Quality
‒ Vehicle load, reliability, customer 

satisfaction

Design Guidelines vs. Service Standards

16



All CARTA routes are not created equal

Route 4 and Route 28 
provide different 

types of service and 
should not be 

measured the same 
way.

17



15

Service Categories
Category Purpose Routes

Core Move the most riders in busy, higher-density corridors 1, 4, 9

Local Provide neighborhood coverage and community access 10A/C/G, 13, 16, 21, 28

Commuter Serve job centers during peak hours 3

Shuttle Connect activity centers, parking, and attractions 2, 15, 33, 34

Special Services Partner-funded routes serving niche markets (e.g., UTC) 14

On-Demand Flexible coverage in low-density areas CARTA Go

Care-a-Van ADA and non-ADA paratransit service n/a

18



16

• ADD A SYSTEM MAP

Service Categories

19



Proposed Service Design Guidelines

Service Design Guidelines

Service Quality

*Frequency How often a bus arrives (time between trips).

Span Hours of service each day (start and end times).

*Vehicle Assignment The type/size of vehicle assigned to each route or service.

Route Directness How closely route follows a direct path with minimal deviations.

Bus Stop Spacing Average distance between bus stops.

Service Coordination How well different routes and modes connect with each other (timed 
transfers) at transfer points.

*Distribution of Stop
Amenities Distribution of shelters, benches, lighting, and signage at stops/stations.

*Service Availability Geographic coverage of the transit system — how much of the 
population/jobs are within walking distance of transit.

Efficiency Deadhead Ratio How much time does a bus spend driving to starting location, out of service.

*Title VI Requirement 20



How is this put into place?

21



19

CARTA tracks key service indicators to understand how the system is performing.

Service Standards Framework

Key Performance Indicators

Primary Evaluation Metrics Secondary Monitoring Metrics

Used for route evaluation and 
service change decisions

Used to track trends, diagnose 
issues, and guide improvements

22



Primary Evaluation Metrics

Passengers per Revenue Hour
Does the level of service across the day 

meet the level of demand?

Financial Subsidy per Passenger
Does the level of demand warrant the 

cost of the service?Two “core” metrics 
are used to diagnose 
route health.

Cost-effectiveness 

Productivity

23



Evaluation Ratings

Performance targets 
are set by service 
category and used to 
calculate route 
performance rating.

Meets / 
Exceeds Marginal Under

Rating Criteria

Route meets or 
exceeds target 

for both 
metrics

Route below 
target for one 

metric

Route fails 
both metrics

24



Performance Targets

Core

Local

Commuter

Shuttle

Special

CARTA Go
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

Core

Local

Commuter

Shuttle

Special

CARTA Go
$0 $1 $2 $3 $4 $5 $6 $7 $8 $9 $10 $11 $12 $13 $14 $15 $16 $17 $18 $19 $20 $21 $22 $23 $24 $25 $26 $27 $28 $29 $30 $31 $32

Peer Average
Passengers per Revenue Hour

Subsidy per Passenger

CARTA Category Average

Peer Average

Weekday Saturday Sunday
Meets / 

Exceeds Marginal Under 25



Evaluation Ratings & Actions

Ratings signal the 
need for potential 
action to improve 
performance.

Meets / 
Exceeds Marginal Under

Rating Criteria

Route meets or 
exceeds target 

for both 
metrics

Route below 
target for one 

metric

Route fails 
both metrics

Potential 
Actions

Maintain or 
increase 
service

Monitor & 
identify 

mitigations

Consider 
reallocating 
resources or 
new delivery 

model

26



Preliminary Evaluation Scorecard
Category Line Name Weekday Saturday Sunday

Core
1 Alton Park
4 Eastgate / Hamilton Place
9 East Lake

Local

10A Avondale
10C Campbell St / Hwy 58 No Service No Service

10G Glenwood
13 Rossville No Service No Service

16 Northgate
21 Golden Gateway
28 Amnicola Hwy No Service No Service

Commuter 3 Enterprise South No Service

Shuttle

2 North Shore No Service

15 St. Elmo / Incline Shuttle
33 Downtown Shuttle
34 Northshore Shuttle

Special 14 Mocs Express No Service

CARTA Go 6A CARTA GO No Service

Overall, core routes perform 
well. Other categories 

indicate need for 
performance improvement.

Meets / 
Exceeds Marginal Under

27



Secondary Evaluation Metrics

Primary evaluation metrics 
act as a signal to Staff that 
additional analysis is needed

Secondary Evaluation Metrics 
provide a framework to identify 
specific issues and potential 
solutions

28



Secondary Evaluation Metrics
Secondary Metrics

Productivity & 
Efficiency

Daily Passengers Service demand

Passengers per Trip Underutilized or overcrowded trips

Farebox Recovery Ratio Service costs offset by fares

Service Quality

*Vehicle Load Factor Passenger comfort on board

*On-Time Performance Service Reliability

Missed Trips Service delivery gaps (due to staffing shortages, breakdowns, etc.).

Fleet Reliability (MDBF) Vehicle and service dependability due to breakdowns

Accidents / Safety Incidents System safety

Customer Complaints Rider satisfaction and identifies recurring service issues

*Title VI Requirement 29



Regular Reporting

CARTA needs a plan and the right tools 
to put this into practice
1. Data warehouse that collects and creates reports on

primary and secondary metrics
• Easy-to-access, accurate data will streamline

reporting

2. Compile monthly route performance reports for key
metrics
• Reporting monthly will help identify and track

issues as they arise

3. Analyze data quarterly and develop service
recommendations
• Changes won’t always be big. Small adjustments

regularly reduce passenger shock and operator
confusion

1 2

3

4

9

10A 10C
10G

13
14

15

1621

28

33

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

$0 $5 $10 $15 $20 $25 $30 $35 $40 $45

P
as

se
n

g
er

s 
p

er
 T

ri
p

Cost per Passenger

Top 

30



What’s next?

31



Timeline of Next Steps

Adopt Service 
Standards & Begin 

Tracking 
Performance

Evaluate System & 
Develop Service 

Recommendations

Vet 
Recommendations 

with Key 
Stakeholders and 

the Public 

Adoption of Service 
Plan

Phased 
Implementation of 

Service 
Recommendations

- Shuttles
- Systemwide

Fall 2025 Early 2026 Late 2026 - 2027

32



       Agenda Item 7A 
September 18, 2025 

TO: CARTA Board of Directors 

FROM: Daniel J. Dufour 
Chief Innovation Officer 

SUBJECT:       Statistical Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Staff recommend that the Board accept CARTA’s statistical report for the month ending August 2025 as 
information to the Board. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
Reviewing the data there are three main takeaways for August: (1) Care-A-Van continues increasing 

ridership by improving operational efficiency, (2) weekend fixed-route ridership is the highest in 4 years, 

and (3) steady growth in overall CARTA fixed-route ridership continues. 

HIGH CARE-A-VAN RIDERSHIP AND OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY 
Care-A-Van (CAV) achieved the highest ridership in CAV history for the second month in a row.  CAV 
ridership grew from 5,728 in July to 6,446 in August. 

Care-A-Van was able to make this remarkable achievement by emphasizing operational efficiency, which 
is shown in this chart below of the number of passengers per hour. 

33



 

 

 
 
 
WEEKEND TRANSIT RIDERSHIP HIGHEST IN 4 YEARS 
More and more people are using CARTA for weekend transit.  From July to August, CARTA added 284 to 

its average Saturday Fixed-Route ridership and 130 to its average Sunday Fixed-Route Ridership, which 

are a 13.5% and 17% increase respectively.  The average ridership on both Saturday and Sunday fixed-

route transit achieved the highest ridership since July of 2021, demonstrating that CARTA fixed route 

weekend ridership continues growing and recovering from the pandemic. 

 

34



 

 

 

STEADY OVERALL TRANSIT RIDERSHIP GROWTH 
Overall, ridership of the fixed route saw a 5.7% increase year-over-year from August 2024 to August 
2025.  Specifically, ridership increased from 86,162 to 91,108. 

 
 

35



36



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025 

40517311v2 

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING OF 

THE CHATTANOOGA AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

AND 

THE CHATTANOOGA PARKING AUTHORITY 

August 21, 2025 

The regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Chattanooga Area Regional 

Transportation Authority (“CARTA”) and the Chattanooga Parking Authority was held Thursday, 

August 21, 2025, starting at 10:00 a.m., at the Board Building, 1617B Wilcox Blvd., Chattanooga, 

TN 37406. The meeting was held in accordance with Section 4, Paragraphs 1 and 2 of the 

ordinances creating the Authority and pursuant to the notice posted on the CARTA website on 

August 01, 2025. The following Board members were in attendance and constituted a quorum: 

Evann Freeman, Vice Chairman; Stephen Culp, Corey Evatt, Bill Nye, Daniela Peterson, and 

Leandrea Sanderfur. The following people were also in attendance: Charles Frazier, Chief 

Executive Officer; Scott Wilson, Chief of Staff; Allen McCallie, Legal Counsel, Miller & Martin; 

Dena Franklin, Payroll & A/R Administrator; and various media and guests. Mr. Freeman called 

the meeting to order and declared a quorum present.  

Mr. Freeman opened the meeting with a moment of silent reflection followed by the Pledge 

of Allegiance. Mr. Freeman next opened the meeting for public comments or questions. There 

were none.  

37



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

Mr. Freeman called on Ms. McNulty to present the August 2025 Ambassador Award. Ms. 

McNulty recognized David Tortorich, fixed route driver. Mr. Tortorich was recognized for going 

above and beyond during a recent community event where CARTA displayed its Dolly Parton 

Bus. His pigeon hat, inspired by the book Don’t Let the Pigeon Drive the Bus, created an engaging 

and fun experience for the families who attended the book reading event. His cheerful outlook and 

warm interactions with the guests demonstrated CARTA’s commitment to community connection. 

Mr. Freeman stated that all members had been sent a copy of the June 12, 2025, board 

meeting minutes and asked if there were any additions, corrections, or comments. There being 

none, a motion was made by Mr. Nye and seconded by Mr. Culp, followed by a vote to approve 

the minutes. The motion was unanimously approved. 

Mr. Freeman called on Brandon Meredith to provide a Communications and Marketing 

Department staff report. Mr. Meredith stated that CARTA’s social media engagement has 

increased over the previous ninety (90) days by the following amounts: (i) Facebook gained one 

thousand four hundred twelve (1,412) followers and received eighty-eight thousand (88,000) 

views; (ii) Instagram gained nine hundred sixty-eight (968) followers and received twenty-eight 

thousand seven hundred twelve (28,712) views, and (iii) LinkedIn gained one thousand one 

hundred thirty-four (1,134) followers and received sixty percent (60%) impressions. CARTA’s 

video showing how they assisted EMS during the recent flood was a record post with forty-three 

38



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025 

40517311v2 

thousand (43,000) Facebook views, three thousand seven hundred five (3,705) Instagram views, 

and two thousand seven hundred (2,700) LinkedIn views.  

CARTA displayed the Dolly Bus at four (4) Community Outreach events: Make Music 

Day, Story Time on the Bus with CPL, Jefferson Park Touch a Truck, and a Back to School Bash. 

Planned upcoming events include the Bacon Festival and Too Cute to Spook. Beginning 

September 2025, in partnership with County Mayor Wamp, CARTA will provide transportation 

to and from the Hamilton County Recovery Court for HCRC participants at no cost via CARTA 

GO in addition to rides on all Fixed Routes. 

CARTA’s Communications and Marketing Department developed a bilingual transit guide 

released on August 17th and Customer Code of Conduct informational materials. CARTA brought 

transit advertising services in house effective as of July 1, 2025. Additionally, a St. Elmo – Route 

15 promotion flyer has been developed and distributed. Finally, the marketing launch for the City 

Sticker Rewards pilot program was successfully completed and included social media posts and 

updated signage. In conjunction to the City Sticker pilot program, CPAs Parking Finder resource 

has been updated. 

Mr. Meredith reported on the launching of a new Mocs Express route that operates on 

Saturdays from 6:00 pm to 12:00 am providing UTC students with transportation to local hot spots 

that include restaurants and grocery stores. His team worked closely with UTC to develop a blog 

article, updated service map for the UTC website and to boost overall awareness of the new service. 

39



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

Future plans for the Communications and Marketing department are focused on improving 

internal communications by adding modern technology to distribute content to all employees, 

utilizing new employee email accounts, and creating a quarterly newsletter containing department 

updates. 

Mr. Nye inquired about marketing plans for the Incline Railway’s 130th anniversary in 

November. Mr. Meredith advised that a meeting has been set to discuss the anniversary and 

develop a marketing plan for the event. Mr. Frazier advised that staff would provide a draft of the 

celebration plans to the board at the September Board meeting. Ms. Sanderfur reported that the 

Dolly Bus was present at the ADA event that recently took place. Mr. Culp requested a copy of 

the Dolly Bus video presented earlier in the meeting be shared with Dolly Parton to which Mr. 

Meredith advised all Dolly Bus posts will include @Dolly. Mr. Evatt requested development of a 

flyer like the St. Elmo flyer be developed and distributed for all routes. 

Mr. Freeman called on Mr. Frazier to present the CEO report. Mr. Frazier reported that the 

Read and Ride program had reached a milestone providing thirty thousand (30,000) rides since its 

inception. He further reported that in partnership with HCDE and Chattanooga 2.0, fixed route 

coverage maps specific to each school have been developed and distributed.  

Next, Mr. Frazier provided an Incline Railway update that included the following: (i) the 

Incline Railway was reopened to the public on July 14th, and a Media Day reopening event was 

held on July 9th, (ii) the fire damage insurance claim has reimbursed approximately nine hundred 

40



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

thousand ($900,000) in property damage and a lost revenue analysis is underway, (iii) Director 

Matthew Higgins is retiring, (iv) design of an off vehicle air conditioning system is underway, and 

(v) CARTA continues to vet options for a rail and dry pipe fire suppression system. Mr. Nye 

requested a timeline for the air conditioning system to be operational. Mr. Frazier advised that it 

is anticipated for next summer and dependent on engineering, design, and cost factors. 

Mr. Frazier next provided an update on the development of the Rider Advisory Committee 

that brings together a diverse group of public transit users that represent all areas of the CARTA 

system. Director Evatt represents the Board and Ms. Peebles represents CARTA management on 

the committee with the goal of 25 to 30 participants. Topics discussed during the inaugural meeting 

included the following: (i) a public engagement policy, (ii) a rider feedback loop, (iii) a bus stop 

and fare structure analysis, and (iv) input from the public on the development of a bus stop 

infrastructure proposal. 

Additionally, Mr. Frazier reported that CARTA is participating in The Bus Driver movie, 

and that the CARTA leadership team attended a strategy retreat at Bridge Innovate. The retreat 

focused on a 3-Year improvement roadmap for transit, parking, shuttle, and the Incline, with the 

goal of developing FY2026 Strategic Imperatives. Mr. Frazier further reported that a 5-Year 

cashflow analysis is currently in process and will be presented for Board approval in addition to 

the 3-Year improvement plan developed during the retreat. Ms. Peterson requested that CARTA 

include data on how public transit improves and impacts community life. Mr. Frazier advised that 

41



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

KPIs measuring these items will be developed with assistance and input from Ms. Peterson. KPIs 

with recommendations will be presented to the Board and the public. 

Under “Consent Agenda” Mr. Frazier requested Mr. Dufour, Chief Innovation Officer, 

present the statistical report. Mr. Dufour reported that Care-A-Van has made remarkable 

improvements in ridership and operational efficiency over the past year. Ridership has grown thirty 

percent (30%). Ridership in July equaled five thousand seven hundred twenty-eight (5,728) trips, 

which was the highest since its inception. Care-A-Van reached the milestone while driving only 

forty-nine thousand seventy-four (49,074) miles. Incline ridership was one hundred fifty-one 

thousand ninety-six (151,096) despite being open only 18 days during July. Shuttle Route 15, St 

Elmo / Incline, had ridership of three thousand five hundred seventy-five (3,575).  

Under “Consent Agenda,” Mr. Freeman asked if there were any comments or questions 

regarding the statistical report, July 22, 2025, Executive Committee Minutes, or the Courtyard 

Parking contract provided in the board packet sent electronically on August 15, 2025. There being 

none, a motion was made by Mr. Evatt and seconded by Mr. Culp followed by a vote to approve 

the consent agenda items as received, read, understood, and accepted. The motion was 

unanimously approved. 

 Mr. Freeman called on Mr. Logan to present the Code of Conduct Policy. Mr. Logan 

advised that staff recommended the Board approve the Passenger Code of Conduct Policy which 

aligns with CARTA’s strategic imperatives of reducing safety incidents, protecting employees, 

42



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

and improving the customer experience. The policy explains potential actions CARTA may take 

for violations and establishes a formal appeal process. Mr. Logan further advised that approval of 

the policy will formally establish a code of conduct for passengers as it relates to paying fares, 

boarding and riding vehicles, and defines unacceptable behavior and forbidden actions. CARTAs 

Chief Safety Officer, Operations Supervisors, and management will be tasked with the 

administration of the program. Bus operators will not be involved in enforcement. 

Mr. Evatt asked for clarification on what currently happens when a driver is assaulted 

without a policy in place. Mr. Logan advised the current procedure is to follow the advice of 

CARTA’s attorneys. Mr. Nye asked how drivers would be notified of suspended riders, to which 

Mr. Logan advised that a database and notification methods would be developed prior to driver 

training. Mr. Nye asked if CARTA currently posts photos of riders who have been barred from 

riding in driver locations. Mr. Logan responded in the affirmative. Ms. Peterson requested 

communication of the policy be welcoming and positive to which Mr. Logan advised management 

remains committed to inclusiveness. 

Mr. Freeman asked if there were any comments or questions regarding the Customer Code 

of Conduct Policy. There being none, a motion was made by Mr. Nye and seconded by Mr. Culp 

followed by a vote to approve. The motion was unanimously approved. 

Mr. Freeman asked Ms. Powell to present the procurement report. Ms. Powell advised that 

staff recommended that the Board approve the monthly procurement report that included sole 

43



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

source procurements of the following: (i) purchase of an applicant tracking system for use by 

CARTAs Human Resources department in the amount of thirty seven five hundred ninety-three 

thousand dollars and twenty cents ($37,593.20) for a 3-year period with NetDynamic, (ii) 

replacement batteries for electric shuttles 720 and 721 at a total cost of nine-three thousand five 

hundred twenty dollars ($93,520), (iii) hardware and software maintenance renewal for one (1) 

year at a cost of one hundred sixty three one hundred eighty one dollars ($163,181), (iv) database 

services renewal for one (1) year at a cost of fifty thousand nine hundred twenty six dollars and 

twenty-nine cents ($50,926.29), (v) Cleverworks Software deployment at a cost of twenty two 

thousand seven hundred thirty-four dollars ($22,734), and (vi) CADMobile deployment at a cost 

of eighty-eight thousand six hundred forty dollars ($88,640). Use of the request for proposals 

(RFP) process to include temporary services, brush removal at the Incline Railway, and the 

purchase of bus shelters. Emergency Procurements included Network Engineering, Server 

Management, and Cybersecurity Services. 

Mr. Nye requested clarification as to the current use of lead acid batteries, which Mr. Huff 

confirmed. Mr. Evatt requested additional information on the RFP request for Bus Shelters to 

which Mr. Frazier advised the request follows the City of Chattanooga procurement process. 

Mr. Freeman asked if there were any additional comments or questions regarding Ms. 

Powell’s request. There being none, a motion was made by Mr. Nye and seconded by Mr. Evatt 

followed by a vote to approve. The motion was unanimously approved. 

44



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

 Mr. Freeman requested Mr. Abernathy present the preliminary FY2025 Financial Report. 

Mr. Abernathy advised that staff recommended that the Board approve the preliminary June 2025 

financial report. Mr. Abernathy reported that total revenue for the year was $29.0 million, which 

was eight hundred seventy-three thousand dollars ($873,000) less than budget. The shortfall was 

due to the Incline Railway being out of service resulting in a loss of 2.7 million in revenue, offset 

by greater than expected ARPA grant revenue. Expenses for the year were three hundred four 

thousand dollars ($304,000) favorable compared to a budget of $29.9 million. Net operating results 

for the year were five hundred sixty-eight thousand dollars ($568,000) unfavorable due to revenue 

shortfalls attributable to the Incline Railway fire offset by favorable variances in ARPA grants and 

expense. 

Transit revenue was one hundred eighty-three thousand dollars ($183,000) below budget 

for the year due to shortfalls in fixed route fare collections and state operating assistance. Transit 

expenses were $1.2 million favorable due to an eight hundred thousand dollars ($800,000) 

favorable variance in personnel costs and a three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000) 

favorable variance in fuel costs. 

Shuttle revenue was $1.05 million greater than budgeted due to favorable variance at the 

Shuttle parking garages totaling two hundred eleven thousand dollars ($211,000) and eight 

hundred thirty-two thousand dollars ($832,000) of ARPA grant revenue. Shuttle expenses were in 

line with the yearly budget. 

45



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025    

 

 

  

   

40517311v2 

Incline revenue was under budget due to closure. Incline expenses were six hundred twenty 

thousand ($620,000) over budget due to repair costs, which were partially offset by favorable 

variances in personnel costs.  

Parking revenue for the year was three percent (3%) greater than the budget due to volume 

variances. Parking expenses were ten percent (10%) greater than budget due to variances in 

personnel costs and meter operations. 

Mr. Freeman asked if there were any comments or questions regarding the request to 

approve the preliminary FY2025 Financial Report. There being none, a motion was made by Mr. 

Culp and seconded by Mr. Evatt followed by a vote to approve. The preliminary FY2025 Financial 

was unanimously approved. 

Mr. Freeman asked if there were any other business items that need to be addressed. There 

being none, a motion was made to adjourn.  

46



Agenda Item 9A 
September 18, 2025 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

CARTA Board of 
Directors  

Annie Powell 

Director of Grants and Procurement 

Procurement Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Staff recommend that the Board approve the following requests related to procurement. Approval of 
procurements under Section A authorizes the Chief Executive Officer to enter contracts with recommended 
consultants. 

A. Board Approval of New Procurements over $50,000

1. Customer Satisfaction Survey

• Requesting an agreement for the completion of a customer satisfaction survey

• Recommended Provider: Warner Transportation Consulting

• Details: staff are requesting an  agreement with Warner Transportat ion Consu lt ing 
for $39 ,031 for data collection and preparation of a customer satisfaction survey to 

support CARTA leadership in decision making and planning. Information will be requested 

from fixed route, paratransit (Care-A-Van), electric shuttle, and CARTA Go customers.

• Procurement Method: Request for Proposals

• Number of Bids/Proposals Returned: 5 

• Term of Contract: a one-time agreement that will end upon completion of the customer 
satisfaction survey

2. Board Approval of the Use of the Request for Proposals Process

Staff requests approval for the following procurement to utilize the Request for Proposals process. 
The current scope of work for these procurements requires that evaluation criteria other than price 
be considered when awarding a contract for this service.

1. Wayside cooling system for the Incline Railway
2. Banking services

3. Driver Safety Technology

3. Report on Sole Source Procurements

1. Fleet Management Software as a Service Maintenance Renewal

• Software as a Service (SaaS) maintenance renewal for a one-year period for $16,639.70

• Vendor: Ron Turley Associates (RTA)

• RTA currently provides CARTA with fleet management software as a service. and the price

is similar to previous years. This software is utilized for work order, preventive maintenance,

purchasing, and inventory management and tracking. CARTA requires the purchase of this

software renewal for another year for continuity of operations. CARTA is investigating other

alternatives that are compatible with Oracle Netsuite for Government as integration of the

purchasing and inventory components are essential for streamlining financial and purchasing

transactions. Purchase and integration of replacement fleet management software has been

included in the FY 26 capital budget. 47



2. Netsuite Finance Implementation Services

• CARTA engaged with LBMC for Enterprise Resource Planning software

implementation/project management services to assist in the transition from CARTA’s

current accounting system to Netsuite. A small purchase procurement was utilized that didn’t

require the Board of Directors’ approval since it was under $50,000. Due to the complexity of

this project, CARTA is approaching the $50,000 threshold and requires additional time for

the completion of this work. CARTA requires a sole source as it would be cost prohibitive to

change implementation team members as they have the institutional and project knowledge

that is essential to finalize the production environment. For completion of services outside of

the $50,000 limit of the initial purchase order, CARTA will issue a secondary agreement not

to exceed $23,696 through October 31, 2025.

3. Netsuite HR & Payroll Implementation Services

• Similarly to the above procurement action, CARTA also engaged with Insight Global for

Enterprise Resource Planning software implementation/project management services to assist

in the transition from CARTA’s current HR/payroll system to Netsuite. A small purchase

procurement was utilized for this work. Due to the complexity of this project, CARTA is also

approaching the $50,000 threshold and requires additional time and requires the use of a sole

source procurement to complete implementation of Netsuite. For completion of services

outside of the $50,000 limit of the initial purchase order, CARTA will issue a secondary

agreement not to exceed $29,440 through October 31, 2025.

D. Report on Emergency Procurements
N/A

ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC GOALS 

This action aligns with CARTA’s strategic imperatives of Fiscal Accountability and Compliance. 

SUMMARY OF NEED 

Approval of this item will allow CARTA to enter into agreements for the above item A1 and send out a 
Request for Proposals for B1-B2. 

BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
On September 19, 2024, the CARTA Board of Directors formally adopted resolution 606, which established 
formal guidelines on the contracting authority of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO). Approval of this resolution set thresholds for contract execution authority at $50,000 for the 
CEO and CFO. Any transactions above $50,000 will require approval of the Board of Directors. This 
Procurement Report or an updated version thereof will be presented to the Board of Directors for approval 
of any contracts that meet this threshold. 

Further, CARTA received recommendations from recent audits indicating that the Board of Directors should 
also approve the use of the Request for Proposal process instead of a sealed bid process and that CARTA 
staff should report on any sole source and emergency procurements that take place between each Board 
meeting. As reported in previous meetings, these items have been added to the Procurement Report as a 
template and will be reported in future Board meetings. 

PROCUREMENT OVERVIEW 
A1. Customer Satisfaction Survey 

• On May 16, 2025, CARTA released a formal Request for Proposals (RFP) for Measurement and
Collection of Customer Satisfaction Survey. CARTA advertised this procurement in the
Chattanooga Times-Free Press, included a notice and link to the RFP on CARTA’s website, and sent
the RFP to ten (10) interested proposers.

• CARTA utilized the following weighted evaluation criteria as part of this Request for Proposals
process:

o Experience and Expertise of the Firm: 60 points 48



o Price proposal: 40 points

FISCAL IMPACT 

The fiscal impact of this action is listed below: 

A1. Customer Satisfaction Survey 

• Upon approval, CARTA will enter into an agreement with Warner Transportation Consulting
for a not to exceed amount of $39,031 for completion of the survey.

• CARTA will utilize Section 5307 planning funds for this procurement

DBE PARTICIPATION 

A1. Customer Satisfaction Survey: A DBE goal of 5% was applied to this agreement. Warner Transportation 
Consultants met this goal through the use of a subcontractor for telephone survey support services. At a 
cost of $2,183, this represents 5.6% utilization.  

49



Agenda Item 9B 

September 18th, 2025  

 
 
 

 
TO:  CARTA Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Sander Abernathy 
  Interim Chief Financial Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion of Operating Results for July and August 2025 and Year-to-Date  

Through August 31, 2025 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

- 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Staff recommends that the Board accept the operating results for July 2025, August 2025, and the 

two months ended August 31, 2025. 

ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC GOALS 

This action aligns with CARTA’s strategic imperatives of fiscal accountability and operational 

excellence. 

SUMMARY OF NEED 

We are providing the operating results for the first two months of fiscal year 2026. The purpose 

of this review is to inform the Board of performance against budget and to highlight the key 

drivers of variances. These results will guide management’s focus on both revenue enhancement 

and cost containment initiatives. 

DISCUSSION OF OPERATING RESULTS 

Transit 

Transit revenues were below budget in both July and August, resulting in a year-to-date shortfall 

of $558,000. This variance is attributable to delays in the receipt of federal and state grant 

funding, which has not yet been realized within the reporting period. While this represents a 

timing issue rather than a structural loss, it underscores the need to monitor cash flow closely. 

Expenses were favorable to budget by $190,000 year-to-date, driven by lower personnel costs. 

Overall, Transit posted an unfavorable net variance of $368,000 through August. 

Shuttle 

Shuttle operations were largely in line with budget, with revenues showing only a modest 

shortfall of $9,000 year-to-date. Expenses were favorable by $18,000, reflecting disciplined cost 

50



management. The year-to-date net result was $9,000 favorable, indicating that Shuttle continues 

to perform steadily. 

Incline 

Incline revenues were materially below budget, with a year-to-date shortfall of $175,000. This 

variance reflects the closure of the Incline during the first half of July and ongoing ridership 

levels approximately 17% below the prior year. Expenses were unfavorable by $78,000 due to 

higher-than-anticipated operating costs, primarily related to repair costs, which will be recouped 

under the insurance policy. As a result, the Incline reported a year-to-date net unfavorable 

variance of $252,000. 

We submitted our claim under the business interruption insurance (BI) policy for the Incline 

closure. The insurer has agreed to a preliminary payment of approximately $1.7 million for BI 

and an additional payment of $300,000 for repair costs. With those payments, the total amount 

received from the insurer will be $2.9 million. We have submitted claims for an additional $1.0 

million for BI and will be working with the insurer to agree on the additional amounts due. 

Care-A-Van 

Care-A-Van revenues were slightly under budget year-to-date by $11,000. Expenses were largely 

on budget, with only a modest unfavorable variance of $2,000. Overall, Care-A-Van recorded a 

net unfavorable result of $13,000 through August. 

Parking 

Parking operations performed strongly relative to budget. Revenues exceeded projections by 

$53,000, driven by volumes running approximately 7% above expectations. Expenses were 20% 

below budget, favorable by $93,000, primarily due to lower parking meter operating costs. The 

combined effect was a year-to-date favorable net variance of $146,000. 

Total CARTA 

Across the organization, total revenues fell short of budget by $700,000 through August. The 

principal drivers were delayed grant receipts and revenue shortfalls at the Incline. Expenses were 

favorable by $223,000, due to lower wages and employment costs and parking meter costs. The 

combined impact was a net unfavorable variance of $478,000 for the year-to-date period. 

Procurement Overview 

N/A 

 

Fiscal Impact 

N/A 

 

DBE Participation 

N/A 

 

51



 

 

52


	0 - September CARTA Board Agenda - FINAL
	Board Meeting Minutes 08.21.2025(40517311.2)
	6 - Board Memo - Transit Service & Performance Standards
	9A - Board Memo - Procurement Report Sept
	RECOMMENDED ACTION
	ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC GOALS
	SUMMARY OF NEED
	PROCUREMENT OVERVIEW
	FISCAL IMPACT
	DBE PARTICIPATION

	9B - Board Memo - Operating_Results_July_August_2025
	Agenda Item 9B
	RECOMMENDED ACTION
	ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC GOALS
	SUMMARY OF NEED
	DISCUSSION OF OPERATING RESULTS
	Transit
	Shuttle
	Incline
	Care-A-Van
	Parking
	Total CARTA



	10A - Board Memo - Incline 130th Anniversary
	Planned Activities and Vendors
	Next Steps

	Kimley Horn_Svc Standards Board Presentation_09112025.pdf
	Transit Service Standards
	Your Consultant Team 
	Background and Purpose
	How did we get here?
	How did we get here? 
	Transit Improvement Program
	Why have service standards?
	Why develop service standards?
	Why Does this Matter?
	What are industry best practices?
	What does this mean for CARTA?
	Evaluation Framework
	Design Guidelines vs. Service Standards
	All CARTA routes are not created equal
	Service Categories
	Service Categories
	Proposed Service Design Guidelines
	How is this put into place?
	Service Standards Framework
	Primary Evaluation Metrics
	Evaluation Ratings
	Performance Targets
	Evaluation Ratings & Actions
	Preliminary Evaluation Scorecard
	Secondary Evaluation Metrics
	Secondary Evaluation Metrics
	Regular Reporting
	What’s next?
	Timeline of Next Steps




